### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

BYRON BRYANT,	)	
	)	
Appellant,	)	
	)	
VS.	)	Case No. 94,902
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellee	)	
	)	

### **APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

MICHAEL DUBINER, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 265381

MARK WILENSKY, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 290221

DUBINER & WILENSKY, P.A. Attorneys for Byron Bryant Northbridge Centre, Suite 325 515 North Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-4349 (561) 655-0150

### **

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellant was the Defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the lower tribunal. In this Brief, the parties will be referred to as they appeared before the lower tribunal.

The following symbols will be used:

- (R) denotes the Record on Appeal.
- (T) denotes Transcript of Testimony.
- (SR) denotes Supplemental Record on Appeal.

In accord with the Florida Supreme Court Administrative Order, issued on July 13, 1998, and modeled after Rule 28-2(d), Rules of the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, counsel for Appellant hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 14 point Times New Roman type, a font that is spaced proportionately.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves a retrial. <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 656 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1995). (R 1993-2005). Defendant was charged by Indictment with one count of First Degree Murder and one count of Armed Robbery With a Firearm on February 6, 1992 (R 15-16). A Motion to Determine Competency was filed on April 1, 1997 (R 2592-2593). The lower tribunal conducted a hearing as to the Defendant's competency on February 2, 1998, February 4, 1998, and February 6, 1998 (SR 1-254). The lower tribunal determined that the Defendant was competent to stand trial on February 6, 1998 (SR 254).

A jury trial was held on February 9-13, 1998, before the Honorable Marvin U. Mounts, Jr., Judge of the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Palm Beach County, Florida (T 1-1052). Defendant was found guilty as charged, on February 13, 1998 (R 2967-2968). Judgment was entered in accord with the verdict on February 13, 1998 (R 2999). Defendant's Motion for New Trial was filed on February 17, 1998 (R 3000-3003), and was denied on September 14, 1998 (R3392).

On March 2, 1998, the Court entered an Order Requesting Supplements to the Record (R 3019-3021). On April 13, 1998, the lower tribunal held a hearing with regard to the supplementing of the record (R 3725-3820). On April 14, 1998, and September 10, 1998, Phase Two proceedings were held (T 1053-1329). A sentencing

hearing was conducted on February 5, 1999 (T 1330-1342). A written sentencing order was entered (R 3857-3867), and Defendant was sentenced to death by electrocution as to Count One and life imprisonment in the Department of Corrections as to Count Two (R 3868-3869). A Notice of Appeal was timely filed (R 3874-3875). This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Prior to the trial in this cause, the Court held a hearing on the issue of the Defendant's competency, which was raised by the Defendant (SR 1-253). Dr. Stephen R. Alexander, a clinical psychologist, testified that he had examined the Defendant as to the issue of competency (SR 6-8). He conducted a one-hour examination and found the Defendant to be polite, alert, attentive, and cooperative (SR 10). He found the Defendant to have average to above average intelligence, good command of the English language, good long and short term memory, and no apparent cognitive defects (SR 12). The Defendant knew his attorney and was satisfied with his efforts, and seemed to understand the strategy that was going to employed in the case (SR 12-13). The evaluation was conducted in the presence of the State Attorney, and the Defendant was advised not to reveal any of the details of his defense, and was able to comply with that request (SR 13). Dr. Alexander indicated that the Defendant knew the charges against him, his rights, the name and function of the judge, and understood that superior courts existed to review the decisions of trial courts (SR 14). He understood the role of the prosecutor and evinced no evidence of mental illness (SR 15). Under all of the circumstances, Dr. Alexander determined that the Defendant was competent to stand trial (SR 16).

On cross examination, Dr. Alexander admitted that he was not sure as to whether the Defendant could testify relevantly (SR 19). He knew that the Defendant had been the victim of a closed head injury, but had not reviewed any of the details (SR 22). He reviewed no records regarding the Defendant's head injury, reviewed no jail records, and simply assumed that since the Defendant was not in the medical cell at the jail, there were no meaningful jail records (SR 22-23). He did not know the Defendant's history of meningitis (SR 23). Dr. Alexander admitted that a person could be able to communicate and still be incompetent (SR 24). He discussed no strategy with the Defendant and did not ask the Defendant's lawyers if the Defendant was able to give them relevant information in order to plan strategy (SR 24, 29). He did not examine any mental health history of the Defendant (SR 27).

Susan LaFehr Hession testified that she was a Licensed Mental Health Counselor (SR 49). She examined the Defendant in 1993 and again in 1997 (SR 52-53). She began her examination with a social interview and found that the Defendant was grounded in reality with a good long and short term memory (SR 54-55). It was Ms. Hession's opinion that the Defendant understood the charges and penalties he was facing (SR 56). She further stated that the Defendant could control his behavior in the courtroom, although she did not conduct any testing regarding his impulse control or his ability to manifest appropriate courtroom behavior (SR 59). Although Ms. Hession

knew that the Defendant had a history of closed head injury, and the potential of impairment from such injury, she did no further examination regarding it (SR 67).

The Defendant's expert, Dr. Antoinette Appel, was a Forensic Neuropsychologist (SR 84-85). Dr. Appel spent over ten hours testing the Defendant (SR 87) and testified that she had observed a dent in the side of Defendant's head which resulted from a blow he received when hit with a pipe in 1985 (SR 88-89). Dr. Appel reviewed the records of the Defendant's prior hospitalizations and the records of the Defendant related to a closed head injury, meningitis, and a seizure disorder (SR 89). She determined that the Defendant's IQ was 84 and that the Defendant was a slow learner (SR 93-95). She found that the Defendant's results on testing were consistent with those of a person who had suffered a closed head injury and from meningitis (SR 97). It was the testimony of Dr. Appel that the Defendant suffered brain dysfunctions which were problems caused by both his meningitis and his closed head injury (SR 103).

Based upon her testing, it was Dr. Appel's opinion that the Defendant's long term memory was impaired (SR 108). Dr. Appel found that the Defendant understood the charges against him, but lacked the capacity to assist counsel (SR 111). It was her opinion that the Defendant did not understand the burden of proof, reasonable doubt, the concepts of intent and premeditation, the difference between evidence and

argument, and the concept of picking a jury of his peers (SR 11). It was Dr. Appel's opinion that the Defendant would not be able to plan strategy with his attorney nor weigh his attorney's advice in making choices (SR 111-112). The Defendant further did not understand the concept of lesser included offenses and would not be able to testify relevantly if called as a witness (SR 112). His attentiveness and memory did not allow him to challenge prosecution witnesses (SR 112). It was Dr. Appel's testimony that based upon the totality of her testing, the Defendant was incompetent to stand trial (SR 114).

At the time of her testimony, Dr. Appel had been appointed to testify in over 300 criminal court cases (SR 115-116). In response to questions regarding Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.221, Dr. Appel opined that the Defendant did not have the capacity or competency to testify relevantly as to complicated questions (SR 116). He was subject to being easily misled and easily twisted around and could testify irrelevantly because he didn't comprehend questions asked of him (SR 116). It was Dr. Appel's opinion that as a result of his incompetency, the Defendant would be unable to manifest appropriate courtroom behavior (SR 116). It was her opinion that past courtroom outbursts from the Defendant were likely not volitional because of the Defendant's history of a disordered brain with a seizure disorder (SR 116-117). She testified that where the Defendant was convicted of First Degree Murder and then

threw a chair at the very jury that had to decide to recommend life or death to the Court, his behavior manifested the very inability of judgment that she had observed (SR 117). Although Dr. Appel found that the Defendant understood that the Prosecutor was trying to convict him, she further found that he was not able to assist his attorneys in strategizing and otherwise evaluating the evidence and making decisions at trial because he didn't understand the various choices involved (R118). The defendant's memory was impaired, and his ability to abstract and be flexible to conceptualizing change concept was clearly impaired as a result of his brain injury (SR 118-119). She found that the Defendant had a brain injury, brain damage from meningitis, a seizure disorder, and a history of drug use (SR 119). He had impaired cognitive functioning (SR 119). The Defendant further had impaired memory and despite having been through a previous trial, did not understand the process of the Court (SR 119). It was Dr. Appel's testimony that her review of an MRI scan performed on the Defendant confirmed her opinions with regard to the Defendant's incompetency (SR 139).

The MRI scan showed that there was damage to the right frontal portion of the Defendant's brain (SR 139-140). The damage was in the same area in which the Defendant was hit with a pipe (SR 140). It further revealed that the Defendant had previous neurosurgery and that based on either that surgery, a hemorrhage or other factors, there was a functional injury to the brain (SR 140-141). The doctor's

testimony as to the Defendant's troubles with concept formation and flexibility characterization and judgment was supported by the MRI, in that the damage to the right frontal part of the brain was in the area that controls those functions (SR 142). It was Dr. Appel's testimony that judgment, abstraction, and reasoning are affected by the portion of the brain that the MRI indicated had been injured (SR 142-143). She further testified that people with injuries in that area tend to become paranoid and have episodic discontrol (SR 143). In response to a question from the Court, Dr. Appel indicated that the Defendant's situation fit into the diagnostic criteria of DSM 294.1, dementia due to head trauma (SR 163). The Defendant's situation met the diagnostic criteria which was the development of multiple cognitive deficits manifested by both memory impairment and cognitive disturbances (SR 163-164).

One week prior to the beginning of the trial, the lower tribunal advised that Defendant would be restrained during the trial and directed defense counsel to discuss the method of restraint with Correctional staff (SR 37). Defendant promptly and timely objected to the use of any restraint (SR 37). In response to that objection, the lower tribunal indicated:

THE COURT: All right. Well, the Correctional staff has some say-so in these matters and I have always deferred to them, it being my belief that it's their decision ultimately to

protect and secure the safety of the people in their charge as well as those who might be exposed to them (SR 38).

The lower tribunal went on to state:

THE COURT: I know you will object to it, but I don't know that the Sheriff is going to force him to wear the other equipment if he doesn't want to wear it. Then between that and the visible restraints, noting your objections and allowing you time to make them, then he will wear the restraints.

Now, on the other hand, if you can talk the Correctional staff into the view that they have sufficient people that he doesn't need the restraints and so forth and they agree that no restraints are necessary, it's their choice, that's fine with me (SR 40).

Defense counsel twice before trial reiterated his objection to Defendant being restrained, and indicated that although he objected to any restraints, being given the choice of visible restraints and an electronic device that would be placed beneath his clothing, Defendant would wear the electronic device (SR 73-74), (SR 257-258).

On the morning of trial, defense counsel advised the Court that the Defendant had directed him not to participate in the trial of this cause if the Defendant was required to wear the electronic restraint belt (T 7-9). The lower tribunal advised the Defendant that he would be required to either wear the visible chain restraints before the jury or be in the electronic restraints (T 12-13). The lower tribunal ordered that the Defendant be placed in visible restraints (T 14). Defendant pledged to the Court that he would observe proper decorum in the case and indicated that he was not trying to be an obstructionist or delay the trial in any manner (T 15-16). Defendant explained that he felt that he needed to be free of restraint in order to conduct himself during the trial in a manner most helpful to his counsel and to his defense (T 15-16). In response to Defendant's statements, the lower tribunal stated:

THE COURT: All right, Mr. Bryant, that's not unreasonable and you're certainly addressing the issue with some intelligence. However, as I have made clear, I believe, I defer to Corrections and Corrections has told me, and I will get the Sergeant to confirm that, they want either the belt or the chain restraints, and Sergeant, let's get your name. You're the supervising officer here, if you would, Sergeant.

SERGEANT O'BRIEN: O'Brien. Yes, Your Honor, we wish for him either to be in the chain restraints or in the belt.

THE COURT: All right.

That's the way it will be, then, Mr. Bryant, I am sorry. I know that disappoints you but that's my ruling and if there is an appeal, of course, and there may not be an appeal, then, the appellate court can tell Corrections and the trial courts in greater detail if that's wrong, but I think it's correct and I intend to go forward with this trial. . . (T 16-17).

Counsel crystallized Defendant's position for the Court, objecting to the use of any device to restrain Defendant in any manner (T 28-29). A request was made for an evidentiary hearing to determine the necessity of the restraints (T 29-30). The Defendant refused to proceed before the jury wearing the stun belt, which he claimed was uncomfortable and unduly restricted his ability to consult with his counsel (T 28-31). The lower tribunal denied the request for evidentiary hearing (T 31).

The following colloquy took place with regard to Defendant's request for an evidentiary hearing:

THE COURT: The court rules that laches applies. You have been on notice of this for some considerable period of time. Also the practice in this county, and I assume it's in other counties, is well known, and you're - - you were on notice to that. So that's the last note request and that's denied.

MR. DUBINER (Defense Counsel): Judge, I'm not sure what practice you're referring to.

THE COURT: The security measures requested by the directions are within the province of the Sheriff. The Sheriff chooses, not the Court.

MR. DUBINER: I, am, again, I'm not arguing with the Court, but I need to preserve the record.

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. DUBINER: I would respectfully suggest this is your courtroom and based upon an evidentiary hearing, you are the one that makes the final determination, not the Sheriff's Department.

THE COURT: Okay. The same ruling. Your motion comes too late. (T 44-45).

The trial of this cause began in Defendant's absence (T62).

During the jury selection process, the Defendant indicated through counsel that he wished to attend the trial (T113). Counsel indicated a desire to discuss the issue of the shackles versus the stun belt and asked to do so (T113). The lower tribunal refused to allow the defendant to wear the stun belt at that time, and ordered him to wear the visible shackles (T113). When the Defendant returned to the courtroom during the jury selection process, the lower tribunal ruled [H]e will be manacled, over your objection (T130). The trial then continued.

During the jury selection process, which was conducted before the entire venire, one juror, Mr. Karoly, was asked if he could be a fair and impartial juror. In response, Juror Karoly stated:

MR. KAROLY: I have a problem. We generally associate criminality with handcuffs and shackles and I know that when a defendant is brought in a courtroom he's being taken — they have been taken off the defendant not to influence the jury and make him look bad and in this case they didn't do that and I find this very strange.

MR. DUBINER: Obviously because you brought it up it causes you some concern?

MR. KAROLY: Well, I mean, this looks like a bad case, but, this, yes, it does.

Defense counsel objected and moved for a mistrial based upon the juror's comments (T 413). The Court did not rule on the motion, but the panel was not stricken and the case moved forward.

Later, still during the jury selection process, Juror Martin was asked by the Court whether there was any reason that he felt he could not or should not serve (T 454). In response to that inquiry, Juror Martin stated:

MR. MARTIN: I don't know. I've been sitting here all day, Your Honor. I just felt, you know, like the gentlemen that was here earlier. I come into this room and I see the man sitting here in shackles, I have convicted him before I even sat here. To me, I feel he's guilty. I would not be able to give him a fair trial (T 454-455).

Defense counsel objected and moved to strike the panel based on the fact that two jurors had announced to the group that they were prejudiced by the fact that the Defendant was shackled (T 455). The lower tribunal denied the motion and advised

counsel that he believed that it was unnecessary to continue to renew the objection relating to the shackles, each time an issue concerning it came up (T 455-456).

During the trial of this case, Leonie Andre testified on behalf of the State (T 501). Ms. Leonie was the wife of the deceased in this case and with him owned and operated Andre's Market in Palm Beach County, Florida (T 502). On December 16, 1991, at approximately 8:00 p.m., her husband took the receipts of the day to the back of the store and her brother was arranging groceries in that same area (T 503). Ms. Andre claimed that two men then came into the store, one going to the back and one staying the front (T 503-504). She was asked for money and told to open the cash register, and took money from the cash register and gave it to the intruder (T 505). She then heard gunshots in the back of the store, and the men ran out of the store (T 506). She found her husband in the back of the store lying on the floor with blood all around him (T 506-507). She did not identify the Defendant.

Officer Richard Jackson testified that on December 16, 1991, he was a Delray Beach Police Officer and was the first officer to arrive on the scene (T 508-509). When Officer Jackson arrived, he saw the victim and three other people in the store (T 510). The victim was lying in front of the counter, face down when Officer Jackson arrived (T 515). Fire Rescue took the victim from the scene for treatment (T 515).

Officer Ronald Held of the Delray Beach Police Department Crime Scene Department arrived at the scene while the Fire Rescue team was still working on the victim (T 522-524). He noted a trail of blood coming out of the front entrance and disarray in the aisles of the store (T 525). He photographed and documented the scene and focused his investigation on the area where he found blood, which was near the cash register (T 534-537).

Officer Rick Wentz observed gunshot residue as well as gunshot powder and powder burns on the floor (T 542-543). He recovered a projectile inside a container on one of the shelves of the store and further found a ski mask in the alleyway by the store (T 545-546, 548). He testified that Officer Jackson found \$805.87 in the pocket of the victim (T 545). No fingerprints were taken from the body and the ski mask recovered by Officer Jackson was not processed for scientific analysis (T 557-559). The blood stains observed by Officer Jackson were not measured for spatter analysis or sampled as to type (T 559-561). Although there was a struggle at the scene (T 569), the area was not examined for any trace evidence of the Defendant. No blood mounting was done on any of the clothing that was recovered (T 568), and there was no blood gathered to match to the Defendant or examination of the powder from the powder burns (T 571-572). A set of keys found in the alleyway was never matched to the Defendant's home or the Defendant's vehicle (T 570).

John Hatton was a Crime Scene Technician with the Delray Beach Police Department in December, 1991 (T 579). He was called to the scene and collected two spent rounds of ammunition (T 580-582). He observed one spent round near a potato chip rack in the store (T 583-585). Another projectile was eventually found in a ceiling fixture (T 586). The projectiles that were located were found the day following the incident (T 588).

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