IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,902

BYRON BRYANT,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LESLIE T. CAMPBELL

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0066631 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Appellee

CASE NO. 94,902

BYRON BRYANT v. STATE OF FLORIDA

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT I - The trial court did not err in requiring Appellant to be kept in restraints during the trial. Based upon Appellant's prior violent behavior in the courtroom as well as in jail, the use of restraints was proper. An evidentiary hearing was not necessary. However if a hearing should have been granted, failure to do so was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

POINT II - Appellant's challenge to execution by electrocution is moot as Florida has switched to execution by lethal injection.

POINTS III, IV, AND VI - The trial court's conclusions regarding the challenged non-statutory mitigating factors have record support. The sentencing decision should be affirmed.

<u>**POINT V**</u> - The record supports the trial judge's decision Defendant was competent to stand trial.

POINT VII - The instant sentence is proportional when compared to other death sentences in similar cases.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

IT WAS NOT ERROR TO REQUIRE DEFENDANT BE TRIED WHILE WEARING RESTRAINTS (restated).

Appellant asserts it was error to require he wear restraints. He also claims the judge refused to permit the use of a restraining belt (IB 53). The State disagrees that the court refused to permit the use of the restraining belt, and submits it was not error to rule Appellant must be in restraints during court proceedings.

Dignity, order, and decorum in the courtroom is essential to the proper administration of criminal justice. <u>Illinois v. Allen</u>, 397 U.S. 337, 343 (1970). Under proper circumstances, a trial court's duty to maintain courtroom safety and security outweighs the risk the defendant's presumption of innocence may be impaired. <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 513 So.2d 1045, 1047 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1079 (1988). Generally, while a defendant has the right to appear free of physical restraints, it is a right which may be forfeited based upon his conduct. <u>Allen</u>, 397 U.S. at 343-44; <u>Diaz</u>, 513 So.2d at 1047 (reasoning shackling proper in light of defendant's convictions, escape record, and violent incidents); <u>Dufour v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 154, 162 (Fla. 1986)(finding shackling defendant during trial proper where he had planned escape), <u>cert.</u> denied, 479 U.S. 1101 (1987).

Upon a showing of extreme need, a court may order physical restraints at trial where it has reason to believe them necessary

to maintain courtroom security. <u>Harrell v. Israel</u>, 672 F.2d 632, 635-36 (7th Cir. 1992). A judge has wide discretion in determining if this standard is met. <u>Id.</u> at 636. The decision to order a defendant to wear restraints is appropriate, and within the court's discretion, where the judge has been advised or is aware the defendant poses a security risk. <u>Correll v. Dugger</u>, 558 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1990). Requiring restraints was proper because the instant judge had both first hand knowledge and had been informed of Appellant's incidents of inappropriate, dangerous behavior.

A review of the record reveals Judge Mounts presided over both Appellant's trials and witnessed him throw a 26 pound chair 12 feet through the air at the prosecutor and toward the jury. This act was accompanied by threats and profanity (R17 - 3095-96, 3100-01, 3104, 3111-12). Given this violence, the judge decided Appellant would have to wear restraints in court.

A week before Defendant's re-rial, the judge noted:

Okay. As to Mr. Bryant, as we all know has been restrained and I assume the trial, you have given thought to and discussed with Correctional staff, Mr. Dubiner, the method of restraint and the method how he will be dressed.

(ST1 - 37). Clearly, the court considered and decided to continue requiring Appellant be restrained in court. However, in response to a defense objection, the judge stated, "so that's a bridge you need to start to cross and there's a method we used in another case, there is a muscle type control that can be activated by an

observer and it's a device worn underneath the clothing²..." (ST1 -37-38). Recognizing Corrections had "some say so" in the matter because ultimately it was responsible for the participants' safety, the court offered the defense an opportunity to talk to Corrections to see if the restraints could be dispensed with altogether (ST1 -38-40). Two days later, counsel announced he had conferred with Corrections and the restraints would not be an issue as Defendant would wear the belt even though he objected (ST1 - 73-74). At no time prior to trial did Appellant request an evidentiary hearing on the issue. Five days later, trial commenced.

During the first day of trial, while the venire was awaiting voir dire, Defendant refused to participate in restraints, thus, prompting dismissal the 50 member panel (T23 - 24-25). Stating he was well aware of what transpired at the end of Appellant's first trial, defense counsel objected to the use of the restraint belt and offered that Appellant had behaved professionally since that trial(T23 - 29). Counsel sought an evidentiary hearing on the necessity of restraints (T23 - 30). The trial court denied the hearing pointing out the parties had been alerted to this pre-trial and, therefore, they were beyond the issue. (T23 - 31). Defense counsel's request for a stay to file an appeal was denied as the

²Judge Mounts advised the parties Mr. Hesse had volunteered for a demonstration of the belt and there was no pain associated with the its activation. It merely incapacitated the wearer's muscles, making him drop to the floor. The belt would permit its wearer to be dressed suitably for court (ST1 - 39-40).

parties had been on notice "for some considerable time" and the judge found it was a "last minute request." (R23 - 44-45). Appellant asked to be removed from court with the knowledge the trial would proceed in his absence (T23 - 48). Audio-visual equipment was ordered to be set up in a separate room so Appellant could monitor the proceedings and join in when and if he changed his mind (T23 - 49-50, 53-56). When the equipment was ready for use, a new panel was called and voir dire commenced (T23 - 58-63).

Part way through voir dire, Appellant sent a message to his counsel to not participate in the trial, prompting the judge to order the trial proceed and noting "that overrides [Defendant's] effort trying to be manipulative with regard to the system..." (T23 -88). Subsequently, counsel informed the judge Appellant wished to participate, but wanted time to discuss wearing the belt in place of shackles. Reasoning the case had progressed beyond that point and recognizing the need for an orderly progression, the court ruled Appellant would wear shackles. The judge stated, "It seems to me he's manipulated [the trial]...", but permitted Appellant to return to court (T23 - 113-16, 130). The next day, when trial recommenced, Appellant did not request reconsideration of the use of the restraint belt instead of shackles (T24 - 190-92).

The issue of restraints resurfaced at trial when Appellant asked to be permitted to testify without restraints. Declining to grant a hearing, the judge reminded counsel he was present when Appellant threw a huge, heavy chair in court stating he had not

witnessed a more violent act in court. Recognizing the "chair incident" occurred in 1993, the court added that the aggravated battery occurred after the chair incident, while Appellant was incarcerated. Further the court reminded the parties, Appellant had thrown a book at Judge Colbath in 1990, therefore, his testimony would be given in restraints (T28 - 743-47).

From the numerous times this matter was addressed, it is clear the parties agreed Appellant had committed two violent acts in court (throwing a chair and a book) and had been charged with aggravated battery while in jail after the chair throwing incident. Obviously, these acts were forefront in the judge's mind when he denied evidentiary hearings or the removal of restraints, even though he stated he would defer to the Corrections Staff. It was not error to require Appellant to be shackled before the jury.

This Court should find Appellant waived this issue or invited the alleged error by failing to address it completely the week before trial when prompted to do so by the court. <u>Knight v. State</u>, 721 So.2d 287, 296 (Fla. 1998)(reasoning defendant's courtroom misbehavior caused judge's ruling and boarded on invited error), <u>cert. denied</u>, 120 S.Ct. 459 (1999); <u>San Martin v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1337, 1347 (Fla. 1997)(prohibiting party from creating error then complaining on appeal), <u>cert. denied</u>, 525 U.S. 841 (1998); <u>Czubak</u> <u>v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 925, 928 (Fla. 1990)(stating "[u]nder invitederror doctrine, a party may not make or invite error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal"). By failing to

request an evidentiary hearing and agreeing to wear the restraining belt just days before trial, Appellant waived the issue. Waiting until the jury panel had been called before refusing to participate and requesting an evidentiary hearing indicates, as the trial court suggested, Appellant was manipulating the system. If it were error to deny the hearing, such was invited due to the late request.

Appellant claims it was error to deny an evidentiary hearing to determine whether restraints were necessary and to defer the decision to Corrections. (IB 49, 52). For support, he cites <u>Elledge v. Dugger</u>, 823 F.2d 1439 (11th Cir.), <u>opinion withdraw in</u> <u>part</u>, 833 F.2d 250 (11th Cir. 1987); <u>Bello v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 914 (1989), <u>cert. denied</u>, 485 U.S. 1014 (1988); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 698 So.2d 1299 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997), <u>rev. denied</u>, 707 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1998); and <u>McCoy v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 371 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

Factually, <u>Elledge</u> is distinguishable from the instant matter. In <u>Elledge</u>, just prior to selecting the jury which would sentence the defendant, the trial judge announced he would require the defendant to wear shackles based upon information that the defendant had threatened to harm the bailiff and had become proficient in karate while in prison. <u>Elledge</u>, 823 F.2d at 1450. Elledge was not permitted to speak to these allegations. Finding this to be error, the Eleventh Circuit reversed for new sentencing. <u>Id.</u> at 1451. In the case at bar however, there is no challenge to the factual basis for the use of restraints; Appellant does not refute that he threw a book at one judge, and while in Judge

Mount's presence, threw a 26 pound chair at the prosecutor while shouting threats and using profanity causing the bailiffs to remove him forcibly. Moreover, Appellant does not refute he was charged with aggravated battery before his re-trial. Finally, Defendant was offered an alternate for the shackles when the trial court suggested the use of the belt to be worn under Appellant's clothes. <u>See Holbrook v. Flynn</u>, 475 U.S. 560 (1986)(requiring parties consider whether a less restrictive method of restraint is available). The belt was rejected on the day of trial. With this record evidence, and Appellant's failure to seek an evidentiary hearing before trial, he should not be heard to complain.

Similarly, <u>Bello</u> may be distinguished from the instant case. In <u>Bello</u>, the defendant had been shackled during the sentencing phase. In ordering a new penalty hearing, this Court noted there was no record evidence supporting the need for shackles and even though the defendant objected to the restraints and asked for an inquiry, the judge apparently deferred to the sheriff's judgment. <u>Bello</u>, 547 So.2d at 918. In the instant case, there is an ample record of Appellant's violent and disruptive courtroom behavior.

Both <u>Jackson</u>, 698 So.2d at 1302 and <u>McCoy</u>, 503 So.2d at 371 reason that a trial court should not defer blindly to the security measures sought by correctional personnel. However, here, the court did not yield blindly to Corrections. While Judge Mounts stated he would defer to Corrections, he had ordered Appellant to appear in shackles since the 1993 chair throwing incident. This

was a standing valid order and the rule of the case (ST1 - 37; Appendix 1, copy of State's Answer Brief on appeal Point V, pages 33-36 in case number 81,862). As a standing order, there was no need to have another evidentiary hearing. Moreover, the defense did not dispute the fact Appellant committed violent acts in court and jail. This behavior alone warranted restraining the Defendant.

However, should this court find it was error to not conduct a separate hearing, such was harmless given the extensive, unrefuted evidence of Appellant's violent courtroom behavior. <u>State v.</u> <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). With this ample record of violence the judge's decision to require Appellant stand trial in restraints was proper. <u>Derrick v. State</u>, 581 So.2d 31, 35 (Fla. 1991) (finding decision to shackle defendant proper where defendant had been found in possession of a screw driver in jail), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 513 U.S. 1130 (1995); <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 549 So.2d 171, 173-74 (Fla. 1989)(affirming decision to require defendant wear restraints based upon previous violence and allegations of an escape attempt), <u>cert. denied</u>, 497 U.S. 1032 (1990); <u>Diaz</u>, 513 So.2d at 1047 (finding shackles appropriate due to defendant's prior violence and escape). This Court should affirm.

POINT II

APPELLANT'S CHALLENGE TO DEATH BY ELECTROCUTION IS MOOT AS FLORIDA HAS OPTED TO EXECUTE THE CONDEMNED BY LETHAL INJECTION (restated).

Appellant claims death by electrocution is cruel and unusual punishment (IB 54, R17 - 3054-75). This issue is moot.

The State of Florida has elected to carry out electrocutions by lethal injection. See, Chapter 00-2, Laws of Florida. As the United States Supreme Court noted in <u>Bryan v. Moore</u>, 68 U.S. L. Weekly 3281 (January 24, 2000), when dismissing the defendant's constitutional challenge to death by electrocution:

> In light of the representation by the State of Florida, through its Attorney General, that petitioner's "death sentence will be carried out by lethal injection, unless petitioner affirmatively elects death by electrocution" pursuant to the recent amendments to Section 922.10 of the Florida Statutes, the writ of certiorari is dismissed as improvidently granted.

<u>Id.</u>, at 3281. Unless Appellant chooses execution by electrocution, he will be executed by lethal injection. As such, this issue is moot and the Court should affirm the sentence imposed.

POINTS III, IV, AND VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EVALUATED THE NON-STATUTORY MITIGATING EVIDENCE PRESENTED INVOLVING DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED LACK OF EDUCATION, LACK OF A POSITIVE ROLE MODEL, AND NEUROLOGICAL IMPAIRMENT (restated).

Contending the court erred in its decisions regarding the nonstatutory mitigators of Defendant's education, positive role model, and neurological impairment, Appellant claims the sentence was constitutionally infirm requiring a new penalty hearing (IB 56, 61-63, 77). The State disagrees because the trial court's findings have record support.

While aggravators must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Geralds v. State</u>, 601 So.2d 1157, 1163 (Fla. 1992); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973), mitigating factors are "reasonably established by the greater weight of the evidence." Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415, 419-20 (Fla. 1990); Nibert v. State, 574 So.2d 1059, 1061 (Fla. 1990)(finding judge may reject claimed mitigator if record contains competent substantial evidence to support decision). In analyzing mitigation, the trial judge must (1) determine whether the facts alleged as mitigation are supported by the evidence; (2) consider if the proven facts are capable of mitigating the punishment; and if the mitigation exists, (3) determine whether it is of sufficient weight to counterbalance the aggravation. Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 534 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020 (1988). The trial court "must expressly evaluate in its written order each mitigating

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